
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:  Thursday, 8 March 2018

Committee: 
Pensions Committee

Date: Friday, 30 November 2018
Time: 9.30 am
Venue: Wilfred Owen Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 
6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached.

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee:
Thomas Biggins 
Chris Mellings
Brian Williams
Michael Wood

Co-opted Members (Voting):
Malcolm Smith  
David Wright

Co-opted Members (Non-Voting):
Jean Smith (Pensioner Representative)
Vacancy (Employee Representative)
Vacancy (Employee Representative)



Substitute Members of the Committee:
Roy Aldcroft (SC)
Roger Evans (SC)
Simon Harris (SC)
Alexander Phillips (SC)
Lee Carter (T&W)   
Adrian Lawrence (T&W) 
Vacancy (Pensioner Rep)  
Vacancy (Employee Rep)

 
Your Committee Officer is: 

Tim Ward  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257713
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies and Substitutions 

To receive apologies for absence and notification of any substitutions

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting 
on any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should 
leave the room prior to the commencement of the debate

3 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 4)

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2018 are attached marked 3

4 Public Questions 

To receive any questions from members of the public, notice of which has been 
given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this meeting is 
10.00am on 29 November 2018

5 Exclusion of Press and Public 

To consider a resolution under paragraph 10.2 of the Council's Access to 
Information Procedure Rules that the proceedings of the Committee in relation 
to the following agenda items shall not be conducted in public on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by the 
categories specified against them

6 Absolute Return Bond Fund Managers 

To receive a presentation from Louis Paul Hill - Aon

7 Absolute Return Bond Fund Manager Presentations 

8 Appointment of Absolute Bond Fund Manager (Pages 5 - 54)

The exempt report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions is attached marked 8

9 Equity Protection Strategy Update 

To receive a presentation from Louis Paul Hill - Aon



10 Investment Monitoring - Quarter to 30 September 2018 (Pages 55 - 102)

The exempt report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions is attached marked 10

11 LGPS Central Active Global Equities (Pages 103 - 144)

The exempt report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions is attached marked 11

12 New Employers (Pages 145 - 148)

The exempt report of the Pensions Administration Manager is attached marked 
12

13 Record of Breaches (Pages 149 - 154)

The exempt report of the Pensions Administration Manager is attached marked 
13

14 Exempt Minutes (Pages 155 - 158)

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2018 are attached 
marked 14

The following agenda items will be taken in public.

15 Corporate Governance Report (Pages 159 - 230)

The report of the Investment Officer is attached marked 15

16 Pensions Administration Monitoring (Pages 231 - 254)

The report of the Pensions Administration Manager is attached marked 16



Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 21 September 2018

                 

Pensions Committee

30 November 2018

10.00 a.m.

MINUTES OF THE PENSIONS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 21 SEPTEMBER 
2018 
10.00 AM - 1.30 PM

Responsible Officer:    Tim Ward
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257713

Present: 
Members of the Committee:
Councillor Thomas Biggins (Chairman)
Councillors Chris Mellings and Brian Williams 

Co-Opted Members (Voting):
Councillor David Wright

Co-Opted Members (Non-Voting):
Jean Smith

23 Apologies and Substitutions 

23.1 Apologies for absence were received from Malcolm Smith and Michael Wood

24 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

24.1 There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests

25 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

25.1 The minutes of the last meeting held on 27 July 2018 had been circulated

25.2 Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 July 2018 be approved as a true record 
and signed by the Chairman

26 Public Questions 

26.1 There were no questions from members of the public

27 LGPS Central - Global Equity and Alternatives Update 

27.1 Members received a presentation from Colin Pratt, Investment Director LGPS 
Central which gave an update on the LGPS Central Global Active Equity Multi 
Manager Fund



Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 21 September 2018

28 LGPS Central - Fixed Income Update 

28.1 Members received a presentation from Gordon Ross Investment Director, Fixed 
Income, LGPS Central which gave an update on Fixed Income Investments 
available through LGPS Central.

28.2 Members were reminded that the product offered did not fit with the current strategy 
of the Pension Fund and in response to a query Mr Ross stated that it was 
anticipated that a suitable product would be available in the first quarter of 2020

29 Corporate Governance Report 

 29.1 A report informing members of Corporate Governance and socially responsible 
investment issues arising in the quarter 1st April 2018 to 30th June 2018 had been 
circulated.

29.2 Resolved:

That members accept the positon as set out in the report, Manager Voting Reports 
at Appendix A and BMO Global Asset Management Responsible Engagement 
Overlay Activity Report at Appendix B

30 Pensions Administration Monitoring 

30.1 Members received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which 
provided Members with monitoring information on the performance of and issues 
affecting the Pensions Administration Team.

30.2 The Pensions Administration Manager advised the meeting that the Annual Benefit 
Statement had been issued to all active members by the statutory deadline of 31 
August and that the majority of members accessed their statement through a 
secure area on the Pension Fund website with 234 members receiving their 
statement in paper format posted to their home addresses

30.3 The Pensions Administrations Manager reminded the meeting that the Fund 
maintained a list of Independent Registered Medical Practitioners (IRMP) that 
employers could use for ill health retirement opinions, and that following a recent 
review of the list three IRMPs currently on the list had requested to retire from the 
list.  The Pensions Administrations Manager advised members it was proposed that 
4 doctors - Dr Sharp, Dr Mcilroy, Dr Ezan and Dr Cathcart be added to the list of 
IRMPs.  She assured Members that the 4 Doctors fulfilled all the qualifications 
required.

30.4 The Pensions Administration Manager advised the meeting that in June Equitable 
Life had announced that they had entered into an agreement to transfer the Society 
and all its policies to Reliance Life, and she outlined what changes this would bring 
about.  She informed the meeting that before the changes could take place eligible 
policyholders would need to vote in favour of the changes and that it was expected 
that this vote would take place in mid-2019 and advised that there was no 
immediate action for policyholders.



Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 21 September 2018

30.5 The pensions Administration Manager advised Members that the treasury had 
issued draft amendments to the Directions relating to scheme valuations and cost 
management process for public service schemes. She outlined the changes and 
the implications for the LGPS

30.6 Resolved

a. That Members accept the position as set out in the report and;

b. That Members approve the addition of Dr Sharp, Dr Mcilroy, Dr Ezan and Dr 
Cathcart to the Fund’s approved list of independent Registered Medical 
Practitioners

31 Exclusion of Press and Public 

31.1 Resolved:

That under paragraph 10.2 of the Council's Access to Information Procedure Rules 
the proceedings of the Committee in relation to the following agenda items shall not 
be conducted in public on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined by the categories specified against them

32 Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting 

32.1 The exempt minutes of the last meeting held on 27 July 2018 had been circulated

32.2 Resolved:

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 27 July 2018 be approved as a 
true record and signed by the Chairman

It was agreed that agenda items 13 and 14 would be taken next.

33 Update on GAM 

33.1 Members received a presentation from Louis Paul Hill.

34 Investment Monitoring - Quarter to 30 June 2018 

34.1 The Committee received the exempt report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions 
which provided Members with monitoring information on investment performance 
and managers for the quarter period to 31 March 2018, and reported on the 
technical meetings held with managers since the quarter end.

 
34.2 Resolved:

That the Officer recommendations be agreed

35 Equity Protection Update 

35.1 Members received a presentation from Louis Paul Hill and Andrew Stals 



Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 21 September 2018

36 Modelling of Equity Falls on the Portfolio 

36.1 Members received a presentation from Louis Paul Hill and Andrew Stals which 
gave an update on the modelling of the effect of equity falls on the portfolio

37 New Employers 

37.1 Members received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which gave 
an update on New Schedule 1 Part 1 Scheme Employers (Academies) and New 
Schedule 2 Part 2 Scheme Employers (Designated Bodies)

37.2 Resolved

That Members note the content of the report 

38 Record of Breaches 

38.1 Members received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which 
updated them on Breaches arising in the quarter 1st April 2018 to 31st June 2018 
that had been recorded in the breaches log.   

38.2 Resolved:

That Members note the content of Appendix A.  

(The full version of Minutes 32 to 38 constitutes exempt information under Categories 2 
and 3 of paragraph 10.2 of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules and has 
accordingly been withheld from publication.)

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 































































Committee and Date

Pensions Committee

30 November 2018

9.30am

Item

Public

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MONITORING

Responsible Officer Ben Driscoll
e-mail: ben.driscoll@shropshire.gov.uk Tel:  (01743) 252079

1.  Summary

1.1 The report is to inform members of Corporate Governance and socially 
responsible investment issues arising in the quarter 1st July 2018 to 30th 

September 2018. 

2.  Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to accept the position as set out in the report, Manager 
Voting Reports at Appendix A and BMO Global Asset Management 
Responsible Engagement Overlay Activity Report at Appendix B.

REPORT

3.  Risk Assessment and Opportunies Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management is part of the Pension Fund’s structured decision-making 
process by ensuring that investment decisions are taken by those best 
qualified to take them.

3.2 The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

3.3 The Fund’s Corporate Governance Policy enables it to influence the 
environmental policies of the companies in which it invests.

3.4 There are no direct Equalities or Community consequences.

4.  Financial Implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

5.  Background

5.1 The Shropshire County Pension Fund has been actively voting for over fifteen 
years at the Annual General Meetings and Extraordinary General Meetings of 
the companies in which it invests. Voting is carried out by individual Fund 
Managers on all equity portfolios.

mailto:ben.driscoll@shropshire.gov.uk


Pensions Committee, 30 November 2018: Corporate Governance Monitoring

5.2 The Fund is also addressing its social responsibility through a strategy of 
responsible engagement with companies. BMO Global Asset Management 
provide this responsible engagement overlay on the Fund’s UK equities 
portfolio.

6.  Manager Voting Activity

6.1 Details of managers voting activity during the quarter relating to equity 
portfolios are attached (Appendix A).

7.  Responsible Engagement Activity

7.1 During the last quarter BMO Global Asset Management have continued to 
actively engage with companies on the Fund’s behalf. An update on the 
engagement activities for the quarter is attached at Appendix B in the REO 
Activity report.  

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Corporate Governance Monitoring report, Pensions Committee 21 September 2018

Cabinet Member
N/A

Local Member
N/A

Appendices
A. Manager Voting Activity Reports.
B. BMO Global Asset Management Responsible Engagement Overlay Reports.















































































































































Committee and date
Pensions Committee

30 November 2018

09.30am

Item

Public

PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION MONITORING REPORT

Responsible Officer Debbie Sharp
Email: debbie.sharp@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 252192

1. Summary

1.1 The report provides Members with monitoring information on the 
performance of and issues affecting the Pensions Administration Team.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to accept the position as set out in the report. 

  
REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management 
Performance is considered and monitored to ensure regulatory 
timescales and key performance indicators are adhered to.  
Administration risks are identified and managed and are reported to 
committee on an annual basis.

3.2 Human Rights Act Appraisal
The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the 
Human Rights Act 1998.

3.3 Environmental Appraisal
There is no direct environmental, equalities or climate change 
consequence of this report.

3.4  Financial Implications
Managing team performance and working with other Administering 
Authorities ensures costs to scheme employers for Scheme 
Administration are reduced.  Reconciling the Funds Guaranteed 
Minimum Pension Liabilities with HMRC will have a direct cost for the 
Fund but if this is not undertaken the Fund risks taking on financial 
liabilities it didn’t need to and having its data called into question by the 



Pensions Committee; 30 November 2018: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

2

Fund Actuary. LGPS having to fully index GMP’s will increase costs for 
the Fund going forward. Further compliance with TPR code has 
highlighted areas where further costs could be incurred. 

4. Performance and Team Update

4.1 The team’s output and performance level to the end of October 2018 is 
attached at Appendix A. The chart shows that tasks outstanding 
remained at a steady level, some of these will not yet be due for 
processing.  Encouragingly, the number being completed on time and 
within target is continuing to show improvement.

4.2 The team are working on a project to ensure that outdated workflow 
cases are replaced with simplified processes and correct target dates 
for effective measuring.  Monthly project meetings take place between 
staff from both the operations team and systems team to progress this 
work.

4.3 Staff vacancies have recently arisen within the team as 3 members of 
staff have decided to leave the team. Two of these posts are 
permanent and one is a maternity cover. The team will be advertising 
to fill these vacancies quickly.

4.4 Meetings have taken place with IT for assurance to be sought with 
regards to Cyber Security.  The Pensions Regulator guidance will be 
addressed by formulating a statement of compliance.  Although the 
Council undertook a disaster recovery exercise across their main 
systems, the Pensions Administration system was excluded on the 
day.  This has been raised with IT for re – scheduling, during the next 
quarter.  Penetration testing by an external company will also be 
undertaken once the new MSS product goes live.

5.       Help Desk Statistics

5.1 The following chart shows the number of queries received through the 
helpline number. 

August 2018 September 2018 October 2018
Telephone calls 
received 677 681 758

Queries dealt 
with by 
helpdesk at first 
point of contact 
%*

87.40% 89.28% 86.93%

Users visiting 
the Website 2,848 1,859 2,529

Member drop 
ins 72 58 60



Pensions Committee; 30 November 2018: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

3

 * Where queries have not been dealt with by helpdesk, this will usually mean 
that the calls have been picked up by the rest of the team.

5.2 The Helpdesk also responds to a number of emails on a daily basis the 
following table shows these numbers:

August 2018 September 2018 October 2018
Emails Received 496 514 550
% of emails 
responded to 
within 3 working 
days

100% 100% 100%

Average number 
per day

21.57 25.70 23.91

                 
6          Communications and Governance

6.1 The Fund monitors member take up of its online area Member Self 
Service (MSS), known by members as ‘My Pension Online’. The 
Annual Benefit Statements for both active and deferred members are 
now available to view on ‘My Pension Online’ unless a member has 
requested a paper copy. As at November 2018 a total of 39.1% active 
members and 31.5% of deferred members were registered to view 
their records on ‘My Pension Online’. The project to upgrade the 
current ‘My Pension Online’ system is still ongoing. Installation of the 
upgraded system was delayed due to additional work required to 
ensure the system met the security requirements of the Council. Upon 
recommendation from the Information Governance Officer an initial 
penetration test has been completed, by Shropshire IT staff, on this     
system and no high-level risks were found. 4 improvements were 
recommended and 3 out of 4 of the issues were resolved immediately 
– the final issue is currently being worked on. Training was provided 
to officers by the system supplier Heywoods on 24 October 2018. A 
user acceptance testing (UAT) period started on 5 November and is 
expected to last 4 weeks. If the UAT is successful the upgrade is 
expected to go live early December 2018 – a month later than 
previously reported.   

6.2 Pensions Board vacancy 
Following interviews on 19 September 2018, to fill the current member 
representative vacancy on the Pensions Board, retired member John 
Hall was appointed to the position. John has attended the Annual 
meeting on 15th November and the Board meeting on 16th November.

    6.3 Developments to the pensions website
Following recommendations from the Council’s IT web team the 
pensions website is being moved onto a new content management 
system called Umbraco. This is the same system the Council uses for 
its main website. The new system allows the team to have greater 
control of the website i.e. displaying newsflash messages, and 
provides a larger platform for content as the pensions website 



Pensions Committee; 30 November 2018: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

4

continues to grow. The new website also provides better usability when 
being accessed via a smart phone or tablet. Training has been 
provided by the web team to the main team users and it is due 
to be switched on at the end of November 2018. 

   7. Pensioner Payroll Implementation

   7.1 Pensioner payroll on Altair went live in October 2018 as previously 
reported. Testing was completed and parallel runs were reconciled.  An 
internal audit was undertaken on the project governance and 
documentation and this received a good rating.

    7.2 The project now moves to phase 2 which is the merge of the payroll 
database to the main Altair admin database.  This is being undertaken 
during November and December 2018.

    7.3 Within this phase the team will also look at how the immediate 
payments facility can be used for making payments through the Payroll 
system instead of through the Council’s finance system.

    7.4 The project is still on schedule and within budget.

8. 2018 Budget announcement 

8.1 In the 2018 Budget, 29 October, the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
confirmed the reduction in the SCAPE discount rate from CPI + 2.8% to 
CPI + 2.4% in the 2018 Budget.

8.2 The SCAPE discount rate is used to set the employer contribution rates 
in the unfunded public service pension schemes and determine the 
actuarial factors used across all public service pension schemes. The 
reduced rate is effective from 29 October for the calculation of actuarial 
factors in the LGPS – this means that some non-club transfers, some 
interfund calculations and all CETVs for divorces are on hold until new 
factors are issued. It is expected that new factors will be issued by the 
Secretary of State in due course, within approximately 6 weeks (i.e. 
early December 2018). Quotations affected by these factors cannot be 
issued and are currently being stockpiled and monitored. It is not 
necessary to suspend Club transfers. Communication to members, 
documentation and internal processes all have to be updated during 
this period.  

8.3 MHCLG have also confirmed that the remainder of the scheme’s 
actuarial factors will be amended to take account of the reduction in the 
SCAPE discount rate in due course. It is expected that these revised 
factors will be issued around February/March 2019. Communication to 
members who request a retirement quote or who are leaving with an 
effective date on or after 1 February 2019 has been put in place. 



Pensions Committee; 30 November 2018: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

5

8.4 Changes will be required to the pensions administration system to 
update the factors when issued.  Which will then enable the stockpiled 
calculations to be worked on. 

9. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) open consultation on technical amendments to benefits  

9.1 MHCLG have recently opened an eight-week policy consultation called 
‘LGPS: technical amendments to benefits’, found in Appendix B. The 
consultation looks at three areas:

 Survivor benefits – including changes to pensions paid to survivors 
of civil partnerships or same-sex marriages to be equal to those 
provided to widows of male members. 

 Introducing a general power for MHCLG to issue statutory 
guidance.

 Correcting the unintended error in the LGPS (Amendment) 2018 
Regulations to provide that deferred members who left under the 
1995 Regulations are able to take payment of their LGPS pension 
without the need for their former employer’s consent from age 55, 
with the appropriate reduction for early payment.

The consultation closes at 11:45pm on 29 November 2018 and officers 
aim to respond. Any introduction of new or revised legislation brings 
with it additional administration and communication work for the team. 

10. Consultation on options for separation of host authority and 
pension fund

           10.1 In 2015, the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) commissioned 
KPMG to undertake a project to examine the issues and challenges of 
separating the pension’s functions of LGPS administering authorities 
from the host authority. As part of SAB’s 2018/19 work programme, a 
further project was established to see how the recommendations that 
emerged from the exercise undertaken in 2015 could be made to work 
in practice. In August 2018, SAB invited interested parties to assist in 
developing options for change. Three bids were received before the 
closing date of 21 September and these are currently being considered 
by the LGA secretariat and the SAB. Updates on this consultation will 
be shared with members once received. 

           10.2 Members may wish to note a comment provided in the SAB paper:       

‘It is to be emphasised that the project is in no way a criticism of the 
excellent work undertaken by both elected members and officers in 
managing the scheme. In particular the Board recognises the non-
political, ‘pension fund first’ approach taken by elected members on 
pension committees and the professionalism of Section 151 officers. 



Pensions Committee; 30 November 2018: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

6

Rather this project seeks to enhance the regulatory, structural and 
procedural support available to them.’

11.  National confidence assessment 

       11.1 In August 2018, the Fund received an invitation to take part in a 
national survey aimed at Committee and Pension Board members to 
gather feedback on the confidence of the roles and responsibilities of 
those tasked with managing the LGPS Fund. Survey participants were 
asked to rank how confident they felt on 8 topics within the 
assessment. 

        11.2 The findings and analysis provide insight into the all LGPS Funds in 
2018. 1 member of the pensions board and 3 members of the Pensions 
Committee participated in the survey and the results have been shared 
separately with the committee and board. The results are currently 
being reviewed by officers with the view that the findings will feed into 
training provided in 2019.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
 Pensions Committee Meeting 21 September 2018 Pensions Administration Report

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
NA

Local Member
NA

Appendices
Appendix A – Performance Chart
Appendix B -  MHCLG consultation document



Appendix A

A
pr-15

Jun-15
A

ug-15
O

ct-15
D

ec-15
Feb-16
A

pr-16
Jun-16
A

ug-16
O

ct-16
D

ec-16
Feb-17
A

pr-17
Jun-17
A

ug-17
O

ct-17
D

ec-17
Feb-18
A

pr-18
Jun-18
A

ug-18
O

ct-18

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Outstanding Tasks at Month End

Outstanding Processes Overall

Outstanding Processes Excluding 
Checking

Outstanding Processes Month End

Processes Completed on Target

Processes Processed On Time In Office

Total Processes Completed In Office

Number of Processes Terminated and 
Due for Action in The Period

Outstanding Tasks Overall

Process and Task Statistics

Month

N
um

be
r o

f P
ro

ce
ss

 o
r T

as
ks





October 2018 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme: 
Technical Amendments to Benefits 

Policy Consultation 
 



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2018 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

October 2018 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5331-2 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


3 

Contents 
 

Scope of the consultation 4 

Introduction – Purpose of the Reforms 6 

Survivor Benefits 7 

Amendment to benefits payable to same-sex married or civil partners 7 

Power to issue statutory guidance 8 

Technical Amendment 10 

Early access to benefits for deferred members of 1995 Scheme 10 

About this consultation 13 

Annex A 14 

 
 



4 

Scope of the consultation 

Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation seeks views on proposed amendments to the 
rules of the Local Government Pension Scheme. These 
amendments are necessary to respond to recent legal 
judgments and maintain existing pensions policy objectives. 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

MHCLG is consulting on changes that will affect members of 
the LGPS and those who may be entitled to survivor benefits 
from them. 

Geographical 
scope: 

These proposals relate to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme in England and Wales only. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

The government believes that any impact on protected groups 
as a result of these reforms would simply be a natural 
consequence of the composition of the local government 
workforce and does not believe that there would be a 
disproportionate impact on particular groups aside from as a 
consequence of this. 
 
How much individual members or their beneficiaries may benefit 
from these reforms will be determined by a combination of 
factors, including when they were employed, their pensionable 
earnings, the length of any pensionable service and the specific 
benefits of the scheme to which the deceased belonged. We do 
not hold data from which these costs could be modelled with 
any accuracy, however we do not anticipate that these extra 
costs will be material to the Scheme as a whole. 
 

 
Basic Information 
 

To: This consultation will be of greatest interest to members of the 
the Local Government Pension Scheme, as well as those who 
might be entitled to survivor benefits from them. Any change to 
the Local Government Pension Scheme is likely to be of interest 
to other stakeholders as well, such as local pension fund 
administrators, those who advise them, other LGPS employers 
and local taxpayers. 

Body/bodies 
responsible for 
the consultation: 

LGF Reform and Pensions Team, Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government. 

Duration: This consultation will last for 8 weeks from 4 October 2018 
Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact 

LGPensions@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
How to respond:  

Please respond by email to:  

mailto:LGPensions@communities.gsi.gov.uk


5 

LGPensions@communities.gsi.gov.uk  
 
Alternatively, please send postal responses to:  
 
LGF Reform and Pensions Team 
Benefits Consultation 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government  
2nd Floor, Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF  
 
When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether 
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official 
response on behalf of an organisation and include: 
- your name, 
-  your position (if applicable), 
- the name of organisation (if applicable), 
- an address (including post-code), 
- an email address, and  
- a contact telephone number 
 
 
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which 
questions you are responding to.  
 

mailto:LGPensions@communities.gsi.gov.uk


6 

Introduction – Purpose of the Reforms 
The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme established under the 
Superannuation Act 1972. Its rules and benefits are set out in regulations1.  

The legislation governing the LGPS has been changed at various points in time. This has 
generally been in order to maintain the affordability and effectiveness of the LGPS, as well 
as to reflect wider legal changes. Changes have also been necessary to reflect the 
changing composition and working practices of those delivering local public services. 

Since the Human Rights Act 1998 came into force, LGPS funds also need to interpret 
those rules consistently with the human rights of scheme members. Recently there have 
been a number of challenges on grounds that the plain meaning of the rules can be 
inconsistent with the human rights of those affected by them. 

The purpose of this consultation is to propose some changes to the scheme to 
accommodate judgments already made and to give some flexibility to respond to future 
developments. 

A number of those challenges have focussed on the issue of survivor benefits. The 
Scheme provides a variety of insurance-style benefits on the death of a scheme member. 
The nature of these benefits has changed over time in line with societal developments and 
evolving family structures. For example, for all active members, the scheme now includes 
equal benefits for the partners of survivors irrespective of the legal form of their 
relationship (i.e. marriage, civil partnership or co-habitation). 

As the scope of these benefits has expanded over the years to take in wider numbers of 
beneficiaries, so has the cost of providing them. To manage this cost, it is long-standing 
government policy that benefits should only exceptionally be improved retrospectively and 
that only members with active membership at the time the benefit is brought in should be 
entitled to them. 

However, there are instances when the rules around benefits have to be redrawn, and this 
consultation covers a number of those. 

                                            
 
1 Principally the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 



7 

 
Survivor Benefits 

Amendment to benefits payable to same-sex married or civil 
partners 
One successful legal challenge was brought in the case of Walker v Innospec2. Mr Walker 
was not a member of the LGPS, he was a member of a private defined benefit scheme. 
On 12th July 2017, the Supreme Court found that Mr Walker’s male spouse was entitled to 
the same benefits which would be paid if Mr Walker had left a widow in an opposite sex 
marriage. The judgment meant that the survivor’s pension would be calculated on all the 
years of Mr Walker’s service with Innospec provided that, at the date of Mr Walker’s death, 
they remained married.Prior to the judgment, pension schemes had been able to make 
use of a provision within the Equality Act 2010 which allowed service accrued before 5 
December 2005 to be disregarded in calculating the pension entitlement of a surviving civil 
partner or surviving same-sex spouse. 

The implication of this judgment for all pension schemes with similar benefits, like the 
LGPS, is that survivors of registered civil partnerships or same-sex marriages should be 
provided with benefits equal to those the scheme member would have left to an opposite 
sex surviving spouse. In the LGPS, surviving partners in a civil partnership or same sex 
marriage of either sex are all currently afforded benefits equivalent to widowers. 

This change would be significant as earlier LGPS schemes, on which the pensions of 
certain members are still determined, recognise past service back to 1978 for widows of 
post-service marriages but only back to 1988 for widowers of post-service marriages. 

The Government has decided that all public service pension schemes should implement 
changes to provide that survivors of registered civil partnerships or same-sex marriage will 
be provided with benefits that replicate those provided to widows.  These changes will be 
implemented in LGPS as though they had applied from the date civil partnerships and 
same-sex marriages were implemented. Hence there will be a need for LGPS 
administering authorities to revisit all awards made under the current rules to partners 
affected and pay any additional sums that are due. 

Many same-sex survivors of a public service pension scheme member will benefit from 
this change. How much they benefit will be determined by a combination of factors, 
including when the deceased was employed, their pensionable earnings, the length of any 
pensionable service and the specific benefits of the scheme to which the deceased 
belonged. 

                                            
 
2 Judgment available at : https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2016-0090.html  

https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2016-0090.html


8 

This differential treatment between widows and widowers has been held to be lawful by 
the Supreme Court in a long line of cases. The European Court of Justice judgment in 
Barber required schemes to provide equal survivor benefits for males who survive their 
female spouse in relation to service only from May 1990. The LGPS meets this 
requirement, but it is not proposed at this point to equalise benefits for all males who 
survive their female spouse on the same basis as they are provided to females who 
survive their male spouse. The costs of doing so would be significant - £2.8bn across 
different public sector schemes. The government had separately consulted widely on this 
issue in the joint HMT and DWP review of survivor benefits in Occupational Pension 
Schemes: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/occupational-pension-schemes-
review-of-survivor-benefits. No final decisions have been made on these issues and the 
Government will respond on this matter separately and in due course. 

Question One - Do you agree with this approach? 

We intend to undertake separately a technical consultation on draft amendment 
regulations to give effect to this change in the current and previous Schemes. 

 

Power to issue statutory guidance 
 
A further successful challenge was brought in the very similar cases of Brewster3 and 
Elmes4. In February of last year the Supreme Court handed down its judgment in the case 
of Brewster. The claimant, who was the unmarried partner of a deceased member of the 
Northern Irish Local Government Pension Scheme, successfully argued that the 
requirement for her partner to have provided a written nomination of her as the recipient of 
his survivor benefits was unlawful. 

The LGPS in England and Wales maintained a similar nomination requirement for several 
years (between 2008 and 2014). Prior to 2008 no unmarried partners were recognised for 
survivor benefit purposes and from 1 April 2014 no nomination form was required to 
establish eligibility. The change in 2014 was made in part in response to legal action that 
was brought by the unmarried partner of a deceased scheme member, Ms Elmes. Her 
circumstances were almost identical to those in Brewster and the rules were changed in 
LGPS ahead of the judgment in Brewster. Ms Elmes’ case was stayed behind Brewster 
and has since been settled in the claimant’s favour. 

On 17 August last year the Department wrote to funds asking them to review their records 
and see whether they now need to offer a survivor pension to partners whose claim for a 
benefit had been rejected at the time the nomination requirement was in force. However, 

                                            
 
3 Judgment available at: https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2014-0180.html  
4 The judgment is not yet available 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/occupational-pension-schemes-review-of-survivor-benefits
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/occupational-pension-schemes-review-of-survivor-benefits
https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2014-0180.html


9 

there will also be cases where as the fund judged that there was no eligible surviving 
partner any dependent children were given a larger pension than they would have 
received had there been an eligible partner. Accordingly, where a partner is now found to 
be eligible for a survivor benefit (which would be backdated to the scheme member’s 
death) the children’s pension would need to be reduced and, in theory, the overpayment 
recovered. 

Although it was not necessary for this to be decided in the case before him, the Judge in 
Elmes queried what account would need to be taken by funds of the rights of the children 
affected. 

The Department’s view of the implications of this case was set out in the letter of 17 
August 2017. However, that letter recognised that the Department’s view had no legal 
force as the Secretary of State had no power to issue statutory guidance in this area. 
Accordingly it is possible for funds to reach different and inconsistent conclusions about to 
the entitlements of beneficiaries in identical positions. 

This is contrary to the Government’s view that the LGPS is a single scheme administered 
locally. It was always our intention that equivalent members’ benefits should be the same 
everywhere. These issues are sensitive and to avoid funds taking different approaches, 
the government proposes to create a power to issue statutory guidance on the operation of 
the scheme’s rules. The aim of this is to deliver greater standardisation of approach, in 
particular on how the interpretative duties under the Human Rights Act are met. An 
alternative would be to amend the rules of the scheme in relation to each judgment as it is 
made. Such an approach would be less flexible to inevitable changes in position as case 
law develops. It would also require a greater call on Parliamentary time. 

Question Two - Do you agree with this approach? 

We intend to undertake separately a separate technical consultation on draft 
amendment regulations to give effect to this change.



10 

 
Technical Amendment  

Early access to benefits for deferred members of 1995 
Scheme 

The Government consulted in 2016 on amendments to the LGPS regulations5. These 
proposals set out the Government’s wish to remove the requirement for persons aged 
between age 55 and 60 to obtain their employer’s consent before drawing their benefits 
early (with the appropriate actuarial reduction for early payment). This intention was 
restated in the Government response published earlier this year. In that response we said 
that we proposed to remove the need for an employer to give consent when a member 
who left the LGPS with deferred benefits prior to 1 April 2008, and is aged between 55 and 
59, chooses early payment of their benefits. 

Regulations were made on 17 April 2018 that were intended to have that effect but it has 
since become apparent that in relation to one group of members the Regulations have not 
had the intended effect. Our intention was that Regulation 24 of the 2018 Amendment 
Regulations  [SI 2018/493]  should modify the LGPS Regulations 1995 (as preserved) to 
provide that this option is extended to members over the age of 55 who left the LGPS with 
a deferred benefit under that scheme. 

This has not been achieved because the 1995 Scheme rules were constructed differently 
from other Schemes. The 1995 Scheme provided that a person may elect for early 
payment of their benefits within three months of attaining age 60, or if later, the date on 
which they ceased to be employed in local government employment. The Amendment 
Regulations reduced the age at which that choice could be exercised to 55, but left this as 
a single, one-off point at which that flexibility could be exercised. 

Successor LGPS schemes had adopted a different formulation and allowed members 
early access to their benefits on or after reaching the earliest age at which benefits could 
be drawn down early. This gave them an on-going flexibility to make an election at any 
time after having reached the revised minimum age. 

The amendments made earlier this year have created a lacuna whereby members who left 
active membership of the LGPS prior to 1 April 1998 and who were aged between 55 and 
60 are likely to have lost the option to elect for early payment of benefits. We therefore 
intend to amend the regulations again to fully achieve the initial policy aim, which is to 
allow all deferred members over the age of 55 to draw down their pensions early, with the 
appropriate actuarial reduction. 
                                            
 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-regulations  

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-regulations


11 

It is also proposed to allow anyone who has been prevented from getting early access to 
their pensions because of this oversight to be able to backdate their application to 14 May 
2018. This facility will be available for 6 months from the coming into force of the 
amendment to the 1995 scheme rules. 

Question Three - Do you agree with this approach? 

We intend to undertake a separate technical consultation on draft amendment 
regulations to give effect to this change to the 1995 Scheme. 

 



12 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Each of these measures is intended to increase equality of treatment between scheme 
members. They extend or clarify entitlements under the scheme for certain groups of 
members who previously have not had the benefit of them. 

The government believes that any other impact on protected groups as a result of these 
reforms would simply be a natural consequence of the composition of the local 
government workforce and does not believe that there would be a disproportionate impact 
on particular groups aside from as a consequence of this. 

Question Four – Do you agree with this assessment? Please identify any evidence 
you think would support your response. 



13 

 

 

About this consultation 
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 
Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  
 
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond. 
 
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA), the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 
 
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality 
can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated 
by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal 
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at 
Annex A. 
 
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 
 
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and 
respond. 
 
Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles?  If not or 
you have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us 
via the complaints procedure.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-communities-and-local-government/about/complaints-procedure


14 

 

Annex A 
Personal data 
 
The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to 
under the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 
Note that this section only refers to your personal data (your name address and anything 
that could be used to identify you personally) not the content of your response to the 
consultation.  
 
1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection 
Officer     
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk   
               
2. Why we are collecting your personal data    
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so 
that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also 
use it to contact you about related matters. 
 
3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data 
Setion 21 of the Public Service Pension Act 2013 requires the scheme authority, in this 
case the Secretary of State, to consult such persons as he believes are going to be 
affected before making any regulations for the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
MHCLG will process personal data only as necessary for the effective performance of that 
duty. 
 
3. With whom we will be sharing your personal data 
We do not anticipate sharing personal data with any third party. 
  
4. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period.  
Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation 
 
5. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure   
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over 
what happens to it. You have the right: 
a. to see what data we have about you 
b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record 
c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected  
d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you 
think we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law.  You can contact 
the ICO at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113. 
 
6. Your personal data will not be sent overseas 

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


15 

 
7. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making. 
                     
8. Your personal data will be stored in a secure government IT system.  
 
 




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	8 Appointment of Absolute Bond Fund Manager
	Appendix A - Manager Selection Report
	Appendix B - Fees Performance Questions Biographies
	Appendix C - Manager Ratings Sheets
	Appendix D - Why this is a 'transition' market environment

	10 Investment Monitoring - Quarter to 30 September 2018
	Appendix A Investment Monitoring Report Sept 18

	11 LGPS Central Active Global Equities
	Appendix A - LGPS Central Global Equity Presentation
	Appendix B - Shropshire Central active eq options
	Appendix C - LGPS Central response

	12 New Employers
	13 Record of Breaches
	11.30.18 Breaches log Appendix A

	14 Exempt Minutes
	15 Corporate Governance Report
	Manager Voting (July-Sept 18) Appendix A
	REO Activity Report (July -Sept 18) Appendix B

	16 Pensions Administration Monitoring
	11.30.18 Appendix A
	11.30.18 Appendix B
	Scope of the consultation
	Introduction – Purpose of the Reforms
	Survivor Benefits
	Amendment to benefits payable to same-sex married or civil partners
	Power to issue statutory guidance

	Technical Amendment
	Early access to benefits for deferred members of 1995 Scheme
	About this consultation
	Annex A



